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I. INTRODUCTION

In October 2006, Rambus Inc ("Rambus" or the "Company") announced that the
Audit Committee of its Board of Directors ("Audit Committee") had concluded, after
intensive investigation, that a significant number of' stock options granted to its
employees had been niisdated. The options misdating required the restatement of the
Company's financial statements fbr a period covering several years and iwecipitatcd the
filing in the United States District Court for the NoiThern District of California of class
action and individual securities fraud lawsuits against the Company and shareholder
derivative suits tiled in the name of the Company, The financial costs to the Company of
the investigation, restatement, and litigation are substantial.

On October 18, 2006, Rainbus's Board of Directors established a Special
Litigation Committee ("SLC") to determine how the Company should respond to the
derivative actions. After an exhaustive investigation and careful consideration, and in
light of settlement agreements it has reached with several individuals, the SLC finds that
it is in the best interest of Rambus that all claims should be terminated and dismissed
with prcjudice against the named defendants in the drivative actions with the exception
of claims against Ed Larsen - the Company's former Vice President of Human
Resources. The SLC has concluded that the claims against Mr. Larsen should be litigated
in the c.ontext of the pending consolidated derivative action where he has already been
named as a defendant. The SLC intends further to ask the court to stay proceedings
against Mr. Larsen until any related governmental inquiries have been concluded.

The SLC finds that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue the
claims asserted against the other defendants named in the derivative actions and that
those claims should be dismissed. First, the SLC has entered into settlement agreements
with Geoff Tate, Gaiy Flarmon, Robert Eulau and David Mooring. Mr. Tate was the
Chief Executive Officer of Rambus from 1990 through early 2005, and the sole member
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of the Stock Option Committee of the Board of Directors from May 1997 to October

2003. Mr. Harmon served as the Company's Chief Financial Officcr from March 1993

through mid-2001. Mr. Eulau served as the Company's Chief Financial Officer from

mid-2001 through February 2006. Mr. Mooring served as the Vice President of several

of the Coiripariy's business units from 1991 through December 1999, and as the

Company's President from December 1999 until January 2004. Mr. Mooring was also a

member of Ranibus 's Board of Directors from December 1999 through May 2006. The

SLC has concluded the settlements with these individuals, which are conditioned upon

the dismissal of the claims asserted against them in the derivative actions, arc in the best

interest of the Company. The SLC believes that the aggregate value of the settlements

discussed herein cxeecds $6.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and substantial

additional value to the Company relating to the relinquishment of claims to over 2.7

million stock options.'

Second, the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue the claims against J. Thomas Bentley, Sunlin Chou, and Abraham D. Sofaer - - all

current non-executive members of thc Board of Directors (and two of whom constitute

the current SLC). These individuals were not affiliated with the Company at the time of

the events at issue, and no evidence exists of any involvement by any of these Individuals

in any of the relevant activities. The SLC has concluded the claims against them are

frivolous, and would fail both for a lack of evidence of any wrongdoing and an

exculpatory provision in the Company's articles of incorporation which permits money

damages claims against directors only for breach of the duty of loyalty or for actions

taken in bad faith. It would not be in the Company's interest to pursue those claims,

which would impose significant costs on the Company and unjustifiably distract the

'See details at Section V.C. below.
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Company from its current business. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded those claims

should be dismissed.

Third, the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue the claims asserted in the derivative actions against Harold Hughes, who has hccn

a rncmber of the Board of Directors since June 2003, and has served as the Company's

Chief Executive Officer and President since January 2005. The SLC has found no

evidence of any bad fhitli or improper behavior by Mr. Hughes concerning the matters

under review, and during his tenure as Chief Executive Officer thcrc have been no

material instances of improperly dated stock options at the Company. Mr. Hughes is

critical to execution and implementation of the Company's business strategy and to

management of' the Company's key customer relationships. Pursuing claims against

Mr. Hughes would not only be unjustified on the merits, but would entail significant costs

to the Company and, because of his extremely important role at the Company, would be

highly disruptive of the ongoing conduct of the Company's business. Accordingly, the

SLC has concluded that those claims should be dismissed.

Fourth, the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue the claims against Mark Horowitz, who has been a member of Rambus's Board of

Directors since co-founding the Company in March 1990, and who has served as its

Chief Scicntit since May 2005. Dr. Horowitz is and has been critical to the Company's

success. He is the invenlor of the main technology on which the Company is based.

Dr. Horowitz had no direct responsibilities with respcct to the stock option granting

process and had no knowledge of any improperly dated options. While Dr. Horowitz

received one insubstantial mispriced stock option grant in his capacity as an employee,

the evidcncc does not suggest that he had any role in or awareness of that niispricing, and

Dr. Horowitz has voluntarily agreed to the repricing of that grant. The SLC has

concluded that the claims asserted against Dr. Horowitz in ihe derivative actions would
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fail both for a lack of evidence of any wrongdoing and the exculpatory provision in the

Company's articles of incorporation. It would not be in the Company's interest to pursue

Lhoso claims, which would impose significant costs on the Company and unjustifiably

distract the Company from its current business. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded that

those claims should he dismissed.

Fifth, the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue the claims against the five current or former non-executive members of Rambus's

Board of Directors who served on its Compensation Committee - William Davidow,

PhD,, Bruce Dunlevie, P. Michael Parmwald, PhD., Charles Geschkc, PhD., and Kevin

Kennedy, PhD. The SLC has concluded that the claims against those individuals would

fail both because of a lack of evidence of any wrongful intent or bad faith conduct by

those individuals, and because of the exculpatory provision in the Company's articles of

incorporation. It would not be in the Company's interest to pursue those claims, which

would impose significant legal costs on the Company, and would unjwuiliably distract

the Company from its current business. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded that those

claims should be dismissed.

Finally, the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue the claims against the remaining three individuals named as defendants in the

derivative actions and that those claims should be dismissed. Those individuals are:

John Danforth, Senior Legal Advisor and former Senior Vice President, General Counsel,

and Secretary for the Company; Laura Stark, the Company's Senior Vice President,

Platform Solutions; and Sobodh Toprani, formerly the Company's Senior Vice President,

New Ventures. Although the exculpatory provision in the Company's articles of

incorporation does not extend to officers of the Company, the SLC has concluded the

claims asserted against those individuals in the derivative actions would nonetheless fail

for lack of evidence of wrongdoing. It would not be in the Company's interest to pursue
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such claims, which would impose significant costs on the Company, and unjustifiably

distract the Company from its current business. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded that

those claims should be dismissed.

The SLC's conclusions are based upon its mandate to choose the course of action

that, in the exercise of the SLC's business judgment, is in the best interest of Rambus,

taking into account the merits of all potential claims against the named individuals, the

costs of pursuing such claims as present a reasonable likelihood of success, and the

balance of advantages and disadvantages possible for the Company from proposed

settlements of the claims. In coming to its decisions, the SLC rcvicwcd the specific facts

regarding each of the individual defendants and his or her role in the underlying events

against the backdrop of the law applicable to the claims asserted against them, as well as

how any particular course of action would affect the Company. In each case, the SLC

reached the decision it believes is in the best interest of the Company.

IL BACKGROUND

Beginning in March 2006, an academic study and numerous subsequent press

reports began to publicize thc likely w kiespread occurrence of accounting and corporate

governance irregularities with respect to the granting of stock options and other equity

awards at over 100 companies, many in the high-tech sector. One such report was

published in May 2006, and made observations about the timing of certain Rambus stock

option grants. Subsequently, in May 2006, Rambus management conducted an initial

review which uncovered apparent irregularities in past stock option grants. Management

reported its findings to the Audit Committee and the full Board of Directors.

On May 30, 2006, Rambus announced that the Audit Committee, with the

assistance of independent legal counsel and accounting experts, had commenced aim

internal investigation of the Company's past stock option grants and other potentially

related issues. The Audit Committee retained I-teller Ehrman LLP as its independent
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legal counsel, and Ileller Ehrman LLP engaged the outside accounting firm of Ernst &

Young LLP to assist in the investigation.

On June 27, 200, Rtrnbus announced that the Audit Committee (consisting of

Messrs. Bentley, Sofaer, and Chou) had reached a preliminary conclusion that the actual

measurement dates for certain stock option grants issued in prior years differed from the

recorded grant dates for such awards. On July 19, 2006, Rambus announced that as a

result of' the indcpcndcnt investigation, it expected to restate its previously issued

financial statements for the fiscal years 2003, 2004, and 2005 to correct errors related lo

accounting for stock-based compensation cxpcnscs, and that non-cash stock-based

compensation expenses should have been recorded with respet to those stock option

grants in an amount that was material.

On August 15, 2006, Rambus announced the resignation of Geoff Tate from its

Board of Directors. Mr. Tate was Chief Executive Officer of Rambus from 1990 through

2005, and the sole member of the Stock Option Committee2 from its inception in

connection with the Company's initial public offering until it was dissolved in late 2003.

On October 19, 2006, Rambus-announced that the Audit Committee had

substantially completed its investigation with respect to the dating of Rambus' stock

option grants and had presented its findings to the Board of Directors. The Audit

Committee determined that a significant number of Rambus stock option grants were not

correctly dated and accounted for, with the vast majority of the incorreelly dated grants

occurring between 1998 and 2001. The Audit Committee found that virtually all of' the

incorrectly dated stock option grants fit into three categories:

2 The Stock Option Committee of Rambus's Board of Directors was authorized to
approve and administer the issuance of stock options to the Company's non-executive
employees. A separate committee of the Board, the Compensation Committee, was
charged with approving stock option grants to executives.
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• The i'ccorded grant dates for a substantial tiumber of stock options granted
between 1998 and 200! differed from the appropriate measurement dates.

From 1999 through 2003, there was a regular practice for grants to ncw hire
non-executive employees of selecting as the grant date that date between the
employee's start date and the end of the quarter on which the closing price of
Rambus stock on the Nasdaq market was the lowest. On certain occasions,
employees had formal employment start dates preceding the dates on which
they actually began working for Rambus. The result of these practices was that
the Company recorded incorrect measurement dates for those grants.

The strike prices for stock options granted ott three occasions during 2003 and
2004 were set on the same dates as Board of Directors or Compensation
Committee meeting dates at which a pool of stock options was discussed. The
allc,cations of the stock option pools to individuals had not been completed as
of the dates of those meetings and, consequently, Rambus recorded incorrect
mcasurement dates for those grants.

Rarnhus's further disclosed on October 19, 2006, that the results oIthc Audit

Committee's investigation confirmed its previous conclusion that Rambus's financial

statements for the fiscal years 2003, 2004. 2005, the Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q

filed with respect to each of these fiscal years and the financial statements included in

Rarnhus's Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the first quarter of fiscal year 2006, should

no longer be relied upon and would be restated.1

On May 31, 2006, the day afler Rambus announced the commencement of the

Audit Committee's internal investigation, a shareholder derivative suit was filed in the

United States District Court for the Northern District of California, entitled C'/zu v.

In addition to the details included in the October 18, 2006 press release, the
Company's impending SEC Form 10-K arid related filings detail the financial restatement
and include extensive discussion of the factual background and related accounting
impacts of the investigation. Tire SLC refers the reader to those disclosuns (hr the
factual background. As discussed in the introduction to Section V, the SLC has
determined that it is not in the Company's best interest to set Ebrth in a public report the
specific factual findings relating to its conclusions due to ongoing pending litigation
matters.
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Hughes, ci at., N.D. Cal. Case No. C 06-3513-JF. A second shareholder derivative suit

entitled Bibeau v. hughes ci cii. N.D. Cal. Case No. C 06-3921-iF was filed in the same

eourt on June 23, 2006, and a thfrd, entitled uggkri v. Thighcs, era!, ND. Cal. Case No.

C 06-4153-RMW was tiled on July 5, 2006, By order dated August 9,2006, the cases

were consolidated for all purposes. The Court's order directed that the consolidated

actions be captioned "In re 1?amhus Derivative Litigation," and directed plaintiffs to file

and serve a consolidated complaint to supersede all existing complaints filcd in the

actions. .See Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motions To Consolidate Related Cases And

Appoint Lead Plaintiff And Lead Counsel, entered August 9, 2006. Plaintiffs filed a

Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on October 2, 2006, and an Amended

Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on November 3 2006.

The Amended Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint ("Derivative

Complaint") asserts claims against a number of current and former officers and directors

of the Company based on the following theories of recovery:

A. Violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
accompanying Rule lOb-5

B. Violation of Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
accompanying Rule 14a-9

C. Violation of Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

D. Accounting

E. Breach of Fiduciary Duty and/or Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary
Duty

On July 24, 2006, another shareholder derivative action was filed in Santa Clara
County Superior Court, Soffer V. Tate, ci. a!,, l-06-cv-067853. On October 20, 2006, the
court dismissed the Sq//er complaint in deference to the tèderal action. In addition, on
August 22, 2006, another shareholder derivative action was filed in Delaware Chancery
Court, Bell v. Tate, ci. al., 2366-N. Pursuant to agreement oldie parties, the case has
been stayed. All of the individual defendants named in the Bell complaint arc defendants
in the consolidated federal derivative complaint.
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F.

	

Abuse of Control

(1.

	

(iross Mismanagcmcnl

H,

	

Constructive Fraud

1.

	

Corporate Waste

J. I Jujust F.nrichinerit

K. Rescission

L. Breach of Contract

M. Violations of California Corporations Code Section 25402/25502.5

N. Breach of Fiduciaty Duties for Insider Selling and Misappropriation of
In lbrmat ion

IlL INDEPENDENCE

On October UI, 2006. the Company's Board of Directors approved the formation

of the SLC to evaluate potential claims or other actions arising out of the Company's

stock option granting activities and to determine in its sole discretion whether pursuit of

such cluims would be in the best interest of the Company. The Board chose J. Thomas

Bentley and Abraham D. Sofaer - two disinterested Board members who already had

spent extensive time as members of the Audit Committee investigating the timing of past

option grants and other potentially related issues - to comprise the SLC. The SLC

engaged I-feller Ehrman LLP as its counsel. By appointing two disinterested directors,

the Board cnsLncd that (lie SLC is independent.

A.

	

J. Thomas Bentley

Mr. Bentley co-founded the mergers and acquisitions firm SVB Alliant (fonnerly

Alliant Partners) in 1990, and served as a Managing Director thereof until October 2005.

Mr. Bentley hoLds a B.A. degree in 1eonornics from Vanderbilt University and a Masters

of Science in Management from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. In addition

to Rambus, Mr. Bentley currently serves on the board of directors o[Nanomctrics, Inc.
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Mr. Bentley joined the Board Directors of Rainbus in March 2005, well after

the events underlying the claims asserted in the derivative actions. Prior to joining the

Rirnbus Board, Mr. Bentley had no professional, personal, or familial ties to any of the

de[ndants in the derivative actions which would create a conflict of interest under

Delaware law, and he continues to have no such personal or familial ties to any of the

defendants. Mr. Bentley has served as Chairman of the Audit Committee since May

2005 and, accordingly, was actively involved in the Company's internal investigation of

the timing of past option grants and other potentially related issues.

Mr. Bentley recused himself from the SLC's deliberations and decision-making

with regard to how to proceed with respect to the derivative claims brought against him.

B.

	

Abraham U. Sofaer

Mr. Sofacr has been the George P. Shultz Distinguished Scholar and Senior

Fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford University since 1994. Mr. Sofaer has a long

and distinguished career in the legal profession and international law. Prior to assuming

his current roles, he served in private l)1aCtice as a partner at Hughes, Hubbard & Reed in

Washington, D.C. and as the chief legal adviser to the U.S. Department of State. From

1979 to 1985, Mr. .Sofacr served as a United States District Judge for the Southern

District of New York. Prior to that, Mr. Sofaer was a professor at the Columbia

University School of Law, and from 1967 to 1969 was an Assistant U.S. Attorney in the

Southern District of New York. Mr. Sofaer graduated magna cum laude with a B.A. in

history from Yeshiva College and received his law degree from the New York University

School of Law where he was editor-in-chief of the NYU Law Review before beginning

clerkships with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit and with

Justice William J. Brennan, Jr. in time U.S. Supreme Court. Mr. Sofaer currently serves

On tWo Other public boards and is on the international advisoty committee thr Chugai

Pharmaceuticals, a large Japanese pharmaceutical company that is a subsidiary of Roche.
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Mr. Sofaer joined the Board of Directors of Rambus in May 2005, well after the

events underlying the claims asserted in the derivative actions. Prior to joining the

Rambus Board, Mt. Sofacr had no profbssional, personal, or familial lies to any of the

defendants in the derivative actions which would create a conflict of interest under

Delaware law, and he continues to have no such personal or familial ties to any of the

defendants. Mr. Sofaer has served as a member of the Audit Committee since joining the

Board of Directors in May 2005 and, accordingly, was actively involved in the

Company's internal investigation of the timing of past option grants and other potentially

related issues.

Mr. Sofaer recused himself from the SLC's deliberations and decision-making

with regard to how to proceed with respect to the derivative claims brought against him.

C.

	

HeIfer Elirnian LLP

I-feller Ehrman LLP, counsel to the SLC, is one of the nation's premier law finns.

The firm s frequently engaged to conduct internal corporate investigations, handle

governmental investigations, and conduct litigation in state and federal courts across the

country. The firm has served as counsel to numerous special litigation committees of

boards of directors. The firm's clients include many of the largest and most sophisticated

companies in Anictica. HclJcr Ehnnan has not represented Rambus in any significant

matter in the last five years, and has never represented Ramhus in any matter involving

its stock option granting practices or in any matter in which any of the facts alleged in the

derivative actions were in issue. In part because of its independence, Heller Ehnnan was

retained as legal counsel to the Audit Committee in its internal investigation of the

Company's stock option grant practices.

Lead counsel for the SLC, Norman .1. Blears, rcccived his J.D. degree from

Stanford University Law School, then served as a law clerk to Judge William B. Enright

of the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California. Mr. Blears joined
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Heller Ehrnian in I93, and served for six years as co-chair of Heller Ehrman's firmwide

Securities Litigation Practice Group. His practice emphasizes complex securities law

matters, including securities class actions and corporate govemanco litigation. He has

been a shareholder of the firm since January 1, 1988. Mr. Blears' securities law

experience has included the representation of corporations, otlicers, outside directors and

accountants in class actions, shareholder derivative actions and complex coordinated

investor lawsuits in both state and federal courts as well as in government regulatory

proceedings. He has led successful efforts in all aspects of securities litigation, including

jury trial and appeal. I-Ia has also conducted many internal investigations and advised

board litigation committees. Mr. Blears has served as a court appointed special master

and arbitrator in both state and federal court and has served as a lecturer on various

programs relating to director and officer liability, shareholder litigation and federal civil

procedure.

The SLC has conducted its investigation independently and reached its

conclusions free from any biases or extraneous influence. Neither Mr. Bentley nor

Mr. Sofaer has any ties to the defendants, personal, professional or familial, that would

prevent him from basing his decision in this matter purcly on his assessment of what is in

the best interest of the Company.

IV. SCOPE OF REVIEW

On October 18, 2006, the Company's Board of Directors approved the formation

of the SLC to evaluate potential claims or other actions arising from Rainbus's stock

option granting activities. The SLC was delegated the power to conduct an independent

review and evaluation of the merits of the derivative lawsuits brought against the

individual defendants and to determine, in its sole discretion, whether it is in the best

interest of the Company to commence, prosecute, terminate, and/or compromise litigation

against any person or entity arising oat of the derivative lawsuits. In connection with its
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investigation, the SLC was authorized to avail itself of any and all information prepared

or coilected by management, employees or agents of Rambus, the Board or any

ccnnrnittec thereof, and was charged with reaching its own independent determinations

and conclusions regarding the commencement, prosecution, termination, and/or

compromise of litigation against any person or entity arising out of the derivative

lawsuits, and was not bound by any determinations or conclusions that the Board of

Directors or any committee thereof had reached or might in the future reach regarding

such mafters.

The personal involvement by the members of the SLC in their evaluation of this

matter has been exhaustive, involving an in-depth review of a significant volume of

documentary evidence, both hard-copy and electronic, as well as participating in or

reviewing memoranda of interviews of the relevant Rambus personnel. The SLC made

its deteiminations based on its review of this evidence and the exercise of its business

judgment in light of its mandate to choose the course that would be in the best interest of

the Company. In making its determinations, the SLC was guided by a nutimber of

considerations, including: the merits of the derivative claims; the likelihood of recovery

on those claims; the Company's obligations regarding indemnification and advancement

of defense costs; the Company's insurance coverage; the Company's current and future

business; and the Company's other litigation risks.

A.

	

The Audit Committee's Investigation

Both members of the SLC are members of the Audit Committee that investigated

the timing of the Company's past option grants and other potentially related issues prior

to the SLC's formation. Similarly, lIeller hrman LLP acted as independent counsel to

the Audit Committee in its investigation. As a result, the SLC and its counsel were well

versed in the relevant facts and the roles of the individuals in the underlying events prior

to the commencement of the SLC's evaluation. The extensive materials gathered by the
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Audit Coimuittce in its own in-depth investigation were hilly available to the SLC in its

investigation.

The Audit Committee's investigation focused on the Company's stock option

grants for the period beginning on May 14, 1997, the date of the Company's initial public

offering, tluough May 30, 2006 (the "Review Period"). The Audit Committee conducted

a factual investigation and accounting analysis with respect to the Company's historical

stock option practices during the Review Period including, among other things: the

Company's practices and niethodologics for issuing option grants; the legal authority for

issuing option grants; the timing of' approvals required for each granting action; the

tuning of allocations of specific numbers of shares to specific individuals; and the

conduct of the individuals involved in the relevant processes.5

With the assistance of' legal counsel from Ileller Ehrman and forensic accountants

from Ernst & Young LLP, the Audit Committee identified, collected, and reviewed over

1.5 million electronic documents and hundreds of thousands of pages of hard-copy files

from 39 current and former employees and directors. The Audit Comtnittee collected

hard-copy documents from the files of the Company's finance, legal, stock administration

departments, and human resources departments (including personnel files), as well from

individual custodians. The Audit Committee also collected hard-copy corporate

governance documents including Unanimous Written Consents, Board of Directors

meeting nuinuLes, Cumpcnsation Committee meeting minutes, Stock Option Committee

approval memoranda, and SEC forms 3, 4, and 5.

The Audit Comrrmittec's investigation also focused on a review of the Company's
internal controls, potential remedial measures, and recommendations for best practices
with respect to stock options in particular. That portion of the Audit Committee's
investigation is not germane to the SLC's investigation.
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With respect to electron ic documents, the Audit Committee imaged and searched

the hard drives of 27 individual custodians and collected and rcvicwcd documents from

the shared drives of the Company's human resources, finance, and legal departments.

Further, the Audit Committee collected electronic versions of specific categories of

documents, including Unanimous Written Consents, Board of Directors meeting minutes,

Compensation Coniiuittee meeting minutes, Stock Option Committee approval

memoranda, and SEC forms 3, 4, and 5. The Audit Committee analyzed the metadata

attributes of documents to determine when they were created and to discover any other

pertinent history or modifications. Finally, the Audit Committee collected and analyzed

data from thc Company's Equity Edge database, which was used to track and manage the

Company's stock option grants.

In addition to the collection and review of electronic and paper cvidcncc, counsel

for the Audit Committee, and in some instances Audit Committee members themselves,

conducted interviews of over 50 individuals who potentially had relevant knowledge,

incEuding:

Current and Former Directors:

William Davidow, PhD,

Bruce Dunlevie

P. Michael Farmwald, PhD.

Charles Geschke, PhD.

Kevin Kennedy, PhD.

Current and Former Officers:

Ira Blumberg

John Dan forth
(Senior Legal Advisor and former Senior
VP and General Counsel)

Kevin Donnelly
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Mark Horowitz, PhD.

Harold Hughes (also current CEO)

David Mooring (former President)

GeolI Tate (former CEO)

Samir Patel

Kent Richardson

Ed Larsen (flrmer Vice President Human
Resources)
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Robert Eulau
(former CFO)

Gary Harmon
(former CFO)

Sharon Holt

Robert Kramer

Current and Former
Human Resources Emp1oyees

Hayley Gulko

Melinda Kaufman

Current and Former Stock
4ministration Employees:

Denise Allen

Susan Berry

Current and Former Finance/
Accountini Employees:

Joanne Bravo

Debbie Daniels

Julia Krisinan

Other Current Employees:

Paul Anderson

Akash Bansal

Wendem Beyene

Ken Chang

Melissa Frank

J.3ntno Gnrlepp

Inciri Hariyono

PwC Auditors:

Betty Jø Charles

Ruinbus Special Litigation Committee
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Satish Rishi
(current CFO)

Michael Schroeder
(current Vice ?resident Human Resources)

Laura Stark

Carrie Ling

Mark Thomas

Loretta Miller

Laura Scholes

Dani Park

Toral Patel

Raquel Peasley

Niimal Jam

Jean-Marc Palenaude

Leena S ingh

Jared Smith

Walter Wang

Gary Yip

Peter Matutat
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Etarish Khaima

	

Dan Zwam

Outside Legal Counsel:

Katie Martin Tim Sparks

Aaron Alter

The factual investigation and accounting analysis phase of the Audit Committee's

investigation look over four months. During that time, the Audit Committee met on

nurncrous occasions, both in person and by telephone, interacted closely with its

independent counsel, reviewed documents, attended interviews, and asked questions of

witnesses. Upon completion of this phase of its investigation, the Audit Committee had

reviewed all of the Company's stack option grants during the Review Period, which

encompassed approximately 210 separate stock option granting actions relating to

approximately 49 million underlying shares. The Audit Committee substantially

completed thuis part of its investigation on October I?, 2006,

B.

	

The SLC's Investigation

In thc context of their work on the Audit Committee's investigation, the members

of the SLC and its legal counsel reviewed a significant volume of email and other

documentary evidence relevant to option grants and the conduct oIthc individuals named

as defendants in the derivative actions. In addition, the members of the SLC participated

in or reviewed memoranda of interviews of the numerous current or former Rambus

persoimel, including virtually all of the individuals named as defendants in the derivative

actions.

The SLC took numerous additional steps during its investigation to determine how

to proceed with regard to the individuals named as defendants in the derivative actions.

En addition to reviewing pertinent evidence collected during the Audit Committee

investigation, counsel for the SLC conducted numerous additional targeted document

searches to further research the facts regarding the individual defendants' conduct as
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accurately as reasonably possible. In addition, counsel for the SLC met with counsel for

several of the individual defendants to hear and report to the SLC mcmhers those

defendants' respective positions on the facts alleged in the claims against them.

The SLC met frequently and interacted closely with its independent counsel to

analyze the information it gathered and determine how Lu procccd with regard to the

individual defendants. In-person or telephonic meetings of the SLC were held on at least

20 occasions, and members of the SLC had numerous additional discussions with counsel

regarding both the factual and legal aspects of its investigation.

During its deliberations, the SLC reviewed the specific facts regarding each of the

individual dcfendanis and his or her role in the underlying events against the backdrop of

the legal, procedural, and evidentiary ntles applicable to the claims asserted against them,

as well as how any particular course of action would affect the Company. In each case,

the SLC reached the decision it believed to be in the best interest of the Company.

V. CONCLUSIONS

The SLC has demermined that it is not in the Company's best interest to set forth

detailed factual findings regarding the issues raised in the consolidated derivative actions.

Not only has the Company concluded that claims asserted against one defendant in the

derivative action should proceed, but the Company also is subject to a pending

shareholder class action and two separate individual shareholder actions asserting federal

securities fraud claims. The Company's interests in the securities fraud actions will not

be well served by providing the Company's litigation opponents with a substantial

amount. of work product generated by the SLC's counsel. Accordingly, this report states

the SLC's conclusions and, with respect to defendants as to whom the SLC believes

claims should be dismissed, an explanation of those conclusions. It does not, however,

set forth the specific factual linclings that led the SLC to these conclusions.
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Based on its investigation and deliberations, the SLC has reached the following

conclusions:

A. Ed Larsen

Ed Larsen is a former officer of the Company. Mr. Larsen served as the

Company's Vice President for Human Rcsources from September 1996 until December

1999, then held the title of Senior Vice President, Administration until his retirement in

2004. The SLC concludes that it is in the best interest of the Company that the claims

asserted against Mr. Larsen be maintained in the consolidated derivative litigation. The

SLC intends to assert control over the litigation of those claims in the pending derivative

action, and i titends to ask the court to stay further proceedings until any governmental

inquiries involving Mr. Larsen have been completed.

B. Robert Eu]au

Robert Eulau served as the Company's Chief Financial Officer from May 2001

through February 2006.

The SLC has concluded that certain of the claims asserted against Mr. Eulau may

have merit, but also recognizes the inherent uncertainties and costs of litigation. The

litigation uncertainties include issues surrounding whether the evidence is sufficient to

,rove the necessary state of mind element olthe various causes of action, the percentage

of fault to be attributed to Mr. Eulau. the potential imputation of various facts to the

Company, statute of limitations issues, and the ability to prove damages and loss

causation, among other things.

As to the unjust enrichment claim asserted in the derivative actions, Mr. Eulau

received mispriced grants on two occasions during 2001. The SLC concluded that the

statute of limitations would present a significant obstacle to any recovery (hr unjust

enrich rnent.

Rainbus Speeial Litigation Cwnrnittee

	

19
Final Iteport

Case 1:07-cv-07650-GBD     Document 7-6      Filed 09/25/2007     Page 20 of 65



Given the uncertainties and costs of litigation as well as the difficulty of obtaining

a recovery against Mr. Eulau, the SLC entered into negotiations with Mr. Eulau in an

effort to resolve th potential claims against huiii. On August 14, 2007, thc Company and

Mr. Eulau entered into an agreement, conditioned upon the dismissal of the claims

against Mr. Eulau in the derivative actions, among other things, whereby Mr. Eulau will

make a cash payment of $463,256.67. This amount constitutes over 60% of the after tax

amount of benefit Mr. Eulau received from improperly priced stock option grants he

received in 2001.

The SLC has concluded that it is in the best interest of the Company to settle the

claims against Mr. ulau on these lerms, and consequcntly, concludes that the claims

against Mr. Eulau in the derivative actions should be dismissed.

C. Geoff Tate

Geoff Tate served as the Company's Chief Executive Officer from May 1990 to

January 2005 and as a member of the Board of Directors until August 2006. Mr. Tate

also was the soJe member of the Stock Option Committee from May 1997 to October

2003.

The SLC has concluded that certain of the claims asserted against Mr. Tate in the

derivative actions may have merit, hut also recognizes the inherent uncertainties and

costs of litigation. The litigation uncertainties include issues surrounding whether the

evidence is suffIcient to prove the necessary state of mind element of the various causes

of action, the percentage of fault to be attributed to Mr. Tate, the potential imputation of

various facts to the Company, statute of limitations issues, and the ability to prove

damages and loss causation, among other things. The evidence relating to whether Mr.

Tate acted with knowledge that the options issued were not properly accounted for is

insubstantial,
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The SLC also took note of the fact that, although Mr. Tate received mispriced

options during his tenure, he did not cxcrci.se the vast majority of those options. Prior to

the cancellation of Mr. Tate's options, Mr. Tate exercised approximately 28,000 stock

options out of the more than 2.7 million that he was granted during the period of his

employment.

The SLC has also concluded that Mr. Tate participated in the approval of misdated

stock option grants. He knew or should have been aware of the fact that date selection

practices were occurring and that the approval memoranda he signed were not properly

reflecting the actual approval dates. however, the SLC also concluded that it was

reasonable for Mr. Tate to believe that Ed Larsen, the Senior Vice President,

Administration, was handling the Company's stock option grants in accordance with the

appropriate legal and accounting rules for stock option grants and understood the

Company's actual practices.

Accordingly, the SLC entered into negotiations with Mr. Tate in an effort to

resolve the potential legal claims.

Mr. Tate has asserted that: During the lime period Mr. Tate was Chief Executive

Officer, the Company adopted and followed a policy for the grant o options (hat WaS

flawed and did not account for certain grants properly. While Mr. Tate did not develop

(lie relevant policies, and was not responsible for the accounting judgments, he feels a

sense of responsibility as Chief Executive Officer and, given his long tenure and

relationship with the Company, readily agreed to assist the Company in defraying some

of the expenses it has incurred.

On August 3, 2007, the Company and Mr. Tate entered into an agreement,

conditioned upon the dismissal of the claims against Mr. Tate in the derivative actions,

whereby Mr. Tate will make a cash payment of $3.9 million and will relinquish any

claims, rights, 01. interests he may have in the Ranibus stock options he was previously
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granted but which were Llnexercised as of the time of his resignation from the Board. The

original Black Schoics calculations for the grants in question resulted in a valuation of

over $4 million a of the time those stock options were issued. As of the time when Mr.

Tate failed to meet certain conditions in connection with a conditional agreement to

extend his options expiration date, Mr. Tate asserted that the intrinsic value of thosc

options (the market price compared to the exercise price) was in excess of $22 mil!ioii.

The SLC has concluded that it is in the best interest of the Company to settle the

claims against Mr. Tate on these tern-is and, consequently, concludes that the claims

against Mr. Tate in the derivative actions should be dismissed.

0. Gary flarmon

Gary Harmon served as the Company's Chief Financial Officer front March 1993

until the middle of 2001. The SLC has concluded that certain of the allegations against

Mr. Harmon in the derivative actions may have merit, but that the Company would lhce a

number of considerable obstacles in recovering on the claims including, significantly, the

applicable statutes of limitations. In addition, because of the passage of years, there

would be very challenging proof problems with respect to important elements of the

Various causes of action. Those problems include the ability to prove the requisite state

of mind requirement, damages, and loss causation for the various causes of action.

Furthermore, the SLC took note of the fact that while Mr. Harmon did receive some

inispriced options, his actual realized financial benefit from those options was less than

$50,000.

(liven the impediments to recovery and (lie inherent uncertainties and costs of

litigation, the SLC entered into negotiations with Mr. Harmon in an effort to resolve the

potential claims agai nat him.

On August 8, 2007, the Company and Mr. Harmon entered into an agreement,

conditioned upon the dismissal of the elaim against Mr. Harmon in the derivativc
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actions, whereby Mr. Harmon will pay $100,000 to the Company. The SLC has

concluded that it is in the best interest of the Company to settle the claims against

Mr. Ilarnion on these terms and, consequently, co,icludes that the claims against

Mr. Harmon in the derivative actions should be dismissed.

E.

	

J. Thomas Bentley, Sunlin Chou, PhD., and Abraham D. Sofrier

J. Thomas Bentley, Sunlin Chou, and Abraham D. Sofaer are current non-

executive members of Rainbus's Board of Directors who joined well after the relevant

events underlying the claims asserted in the derivative actions.

Mr. Bentley's background is outlined above. He has been a member of (lie Board

of Directors of Rambus since March 2005, and has served as Chairman of the Audit

Committee since May 2005.

Dr. Chou has been a member of the Board of Directors of Rambus since March

2006, and has served as a member of the Audit Committee since April 2006. Dr. Chou

served for thirty-four years at Intel Corporation, a semiconductor corporation, most

recently as the Senior Vice President and Co-General Manager of the Technology and

Manufacturing Group from l99 to 2005. Dr. Chou holds a B.S., M.S. and E.E. in

Electrical Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and received a

Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University.

Mr. So fact's background is outlined above. He has been a member of the Board

of Directors of Ranthus and served as a member of the Audit Committee since May 2005.

The SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue the

claims made in the derivative actions against Mr. Bentley, Dr. Chou, or Mr. Sofaer. As

noted above, each of these individuals became associated with the Company well aller

the relevant events underlying (he claims asserted in the derivative actions and after it had

changed its stock option granting practices. There is no evidence that would support any

claim of wrongdoing or unjust enrichment by any of these individuals. Pursuing the
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meritlcss claims asserted in the derivative actions against Mr. Bentley, Dr. Chou, and

Mr. Sofaer would only have negative consequences for the Company including

significant costs and likely interference with the ongoing conduct of the Company's

business. The SLC therethre concludes that it is in the Company's best interest that these

claims be terminated.

Mr. Bentley recused himself from the SLC's deliberations and decision-making

with regard to how to proceed with respect to the derivative claims brought against him.

Mr. Sofaer recused himself from the SLC's deliberations and decision-making with

regard to how to proceed with respect to the derivative claims brought against him.

F.

	

Harold Htmghes

Mr. Hughes has served as Chief Executive Officer and President of Rambus since

January 2005, and served as acting Chief Financial Officer of Rambus from March 2006

to April 2006. Mr. Hughes has also been a member of the Board of Directors since June

2003, and served as a member of the Audit Committee from July 2003 to January 2005.

Mr. Hughes was a United States Army Officer from 1969 to 1972 before starting his

private sector catccr with Intel Corporation. Mr. Hughes held a variety of positions

within Intel Corporation from 1974 to 1997, including Treasurer, Vice President of Intel

Capital, Chief Financial Officer, and Vice President of Planning and Logistics.

Following his tenure at Intel, Mr. Hughes was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

of Pandcsic, I.LC. He also has served on the boards of Berkeley Technology, Ltd. and

Xilinx, Inc. He holds a R.A. from the University of Wisconsin and an M.B.A. from the

University of Michigan.

The SLC has concluded that pursuing the claims asserted against Mr. Hughes in

the derivative actions would be unjustified on the merits (as outlined below), and would

also entail significant costs to the Company. Further, because of Mr. hughes' extremely

important role at the Company, such litigation would be highly disruptivc of the ongoing
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conduct of the Company's business. As CEO, Mr. Hughes is critical to [he execution and

implementation of the Company's business strategy and is responsible for its key

customer relationships. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded that those claims should be

dismissed.

1.

	

Federal Securities Law Claims

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and accompanying Rule

lOb-S make it unlawful to defraud a purchaser or seller of securities. To prevail on a

Section 10(h) claim, a plaintiff must plead anti prove the defendant's scienter

	

that is,

"an intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud."6 To prevail under Section 10(b), a

plaintiff must prove either intent or "deliberate or conscious recklessness" - i.e., "no

less than a degree of recklessness that strongl' suggests actual intent."7 Proof of

negligence, gross negligence, or mere recklessness does not suffice.8

While several obstacles would stand in the way of the Company prevailing on

Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Hughes, the scidnter requirement is the most obvious

among them. After reviewing the specific facts regarding Mr. Hughes and his role in the

events underlying the allegations in the Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded

that the evidence contradicts any claim that he acted with scienter. The SLC found that at

all times Mr. Hughes acted in good faith and there is no evidence of any bad faith or

improper behavior by Mr. Hughes. During his tenure as Chief Executive Officer there

have been no material instances of improperly dated stock options at the Company.

15 U.S.C. § 7u-4(b)(2); Ernst& Ernst v. Hochfrlder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n.12
(1976).

' In re Silica,: Graphics Inc. Securities Litigation, I 3 F,3d 970, 979 (9{1 Cir.
1999).

81d.
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Accordingly, the SLC concludes that the scienter requirement would present an

insurmountable obstacle to !)ursuing Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Hughes.

For similar

	

the LC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Mr. Hughes. That statute imposes liability on "control persons" for others' violations of

the Act. To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first have to prove all the

elements of a Section 10(b) claim against a primaiy violator, including scienter, damages,

and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary violator's knowledge imputcd to

the Company. Even if Rambus could do so, which is highly uncertain, the aflcgcd control

person is not liable if he or she "acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly

induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action." 15 U.S.C. § 78t.

Although the defendant hears the burden of proof oi the affirmative defense, the SLC

concludes that Mr. Hughes would he able to make the required prima theic showing (he

would tcsti ly that he had acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce

stock option backdating) and that the Company, in contrast, would lack evidence to

controvert that showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Mr. Hughes is for alleged violations of Sect ion 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934. That statute regulates the proxy solicitation process and, together with

accompanying Rule I 4a-9, prohibits the solicitation of proxies by means of materially

false or misleading statements. Thc Derivative Complaint alleges that Mr. Hughes

violaled Section 14(a) by signing various proxy statements (related to annual shareholder

meetings and the election of directors) issued during the period 2000 to 2002 containing

misleading statements about the pricing of stock option grants. This claim is frivolous

with respect to Mr. Hughes because he was not affiliated with the company during the
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period from 2000 to 2002 and therefore could not have participated in the alleged

violation.

The SLC therefore concludes that it is not in the Company's best interest to pursue

this claim.

2.

	

State Law Claf ins

a.

	

Breach of Fiduciary Duty

Although styled in various different ways, most of the remaining counts asserted

in the Derivative Complaint are claims for breach of fiduciary duty.9 Because Rainbus is

a Delaware corporation, the duties of its officers and directors arc dcfincd by Delaware

1aw. Under Delaware law, officers and directors owe the corporation two Ilduciary

clulics which, if violated, may result in liability: the duty of care and the duty of loyalty.1'

The SLC concludes that the evidence contradicts any claim that Mr. 1-lughes

breached his duty of care to Rambus. lii any event, however, Delaware General Law

§ 102(b)(7) would be an insurmountable obstacle to claims for money damages based on

any such alleged breach in his capacity as a director. Under Section 102(b)(7), a

corporation may include a provision in its articles of incorporation eliminating the

See Count 5 ("Breach of Fiduciary Duty and/or Aiding and Abetting), Count 6
("Abuse of Control), Count 7 ("Gross Mismanagement"), Count 8("Constructive Fraud"),
and Count 14 ("Breach of Fiduciary Duties for Insider Selling and Misappropriation of
In formation").

'° Kwnc.'n v. Kcznpcr Fin. Scrvs. inc. 500 U.S. 90, 109 11.10 (1991).

cx rd. AmSouth Buncorporation v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 369-70 (Del.
2006). The duty to act in good faith has sometimes been described as part ola "triad" of
fiduciary duties that also includes the duties of care and loyalty. But the Delaware
Supreme Coui clarified in Stone that the requirement to act in good thith "is a subsidiary
element, i.e., a condition, of the fundamental duty of loyalty," and that only the duties of
care and loyalty, where violated, may directly result in liability. kI.

Rambus Special Litigation Committee

	

27
Final Rcpon-t

Case 1:07-cv-07650-GBD     Document 7-6      Filed 09/25/2007     Page 28 of 65



exposure of its directors to money damages for any breach of the duty of care that does

not involve intentional misconduct, a knowing violation of law, bad faith conduct, or a

transaction from which the director derived art improper personal benefIt. Ramhus

included such a provision in its articles of incorporadon, and the SLC has concluded that

none of the exceptions to that exculpatory provision would apply to Mr. l-Iughes.'t

Consequently, even if a breach of fiduciary care could be established as to Mr. Hughes

while acting in his capacity as a director, ii would be to no avail as money damages

would not be recoverable.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence contradicts a claim that Mr. Hughes

breached his duty o[ loyalty to Rambus. The basis !br the duty of loyalty is the principle

that officers and directors must act in the best interest of the corporation. An officer or

director can breach this duty by engaging in self-dealing, failing to act in good faith or by

an egregious and complete failure of oversight. Here, there is no evidence to suggest that

Mr. Hughes engaged in selfdealing. Indeed, he neither approved for himself nor

received any mispriced stock options. Similarly, the evidence does not suggest any

failure to act in good faith or any sustained or systematic failure to exercise oversight. In

the context of claims for breach of the duty of loyalty, the Delaware courts have held that

"[a] failure to act in good faith may be shown, fbr instance, where the fiduciary

intentionally acts with a purpose other than that of advancing the best interest of the

corporation, where the fiduciary acts with the intent to violate applicable positive law, or

where the fiduciary intentionally fails to act in the face of a known duty to act,

12 Just as the evidence does not Support a claim of scienter against Mr. Hughes for
Section 10(b) purposes, or controvert a prima facie showing uf'good faith for Section
20(a) purposes, the evidence also contradicts a claim that Mr. Hughes engaged in
intentional misconduct, knowing violations of law, om. bad faith conduct. Moreover, no
evidence was found suggesting that Mr. Hughes was involved in any questionable
transaction from which he derived any personal benefit.
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demonstrating a conscious disregard fbi his duties."3 To establish lack of sufficient

oversight, the Company would have to show "a sustained or systematic failurc of thc

board to exercise oversight

	

such as art utter failure to attempt to assure reasonable

information and reporting systems exist."t4 The SLC concludes the evidence contradicts

aiiy of the foregoing for purposes of asserting a viable claim for breach of the duty of

loyalty against Mr. Hughes.

b.

	

Corporate Waste/Unjust Enrichment

The Derivative Complaint also asserts claims for "Corporate Waste" and "Unjust

Enrichment," based on identical allegations. Both assert that all of the defendants have

been unjustly enriched via stock option grants and that "[c]ertain of the defendants sold

Rambus stock for a profit during the period of deception, misusing confidentiaL non-

public corporate information," and should be required to "disgorge the gains, which they

have and/or will otherwise unjustly obtain at the expense of Rambus."

Rcgaidlcss of how they are styled, these claims have several obvious deficiencies.

First, a claim for corporate waste is just another variation of a claim for breach of

fiduciary duty and would faiL in this instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, to

state a claim for unjust enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention of a benefit

to the loss of another, or the retention of money or property of another against the

fimdamental principles ofjustice or equity and good conscience.15 The Company would

not be able to meet this standard for the simple reason that Mr. Hughes never received

any mispriced option grants. The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best intcrcst of'

the Company to pursue claims for corporate waste or unjust enrichment against

u hi re Walt Disney C'o. Deny. Lillg., 906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006).

Iii re (Lare,narkJnt1 inc. Deny. Litig., 698 A. 2d 959, 971 (Dcl. Ch. 1996).

' Sc/mock v. Was/i, 732 A.2d 217,232-233 (Del. 1999).
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Mr. Hughes. Such claims lack merit, and would only serve to impose significant costs on

the Company and distract it from its current business.

c. California Corporatioiis Code § 25402/25502.5
The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Mr. Hughes is for

violation of California Corporations Cede Section 25502.5. That statute provides that an

issuer of securities may recover up to three times the profits made by any of its directors,

officers or control persons who purchased or sold securities of the issuer on the basis of

material non-public information about the issuer. In any event there is no cvidence

establishing Mr. Hughes was aware of'rnaterial nonpublic information at the time he

bought or sold any stock, The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the

Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Mr. Hughes as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

d. Accounting

The Derivative Complaint asserts a claim against all defendants for an equitable

accounting. An equitable accounting, however, is not a separate cause of action, but

rather is a species of disclosure predicated upon the plaintiffs inability to determine how

much money, if any, is due from the defendant.t7 That is not the situation here. Rather,

all of the records of Rambus are fully available to Rambus and, were it to decide to

proceed against Mr. Hughes its damages would be determinable. More fundamentally,

' As a threshold matter, it is questionable whether Section 25502.5 has any
bearing on thc existence or extent of a director or officer's liability to a Delaware
corporation. See, In ,•e Sc4gent Technology, Inc. Derivative Litig., 278 F.Supp.2d 1079,
1090-92 (ND. Cal. 2003).

17 See, e.g., Corpus Juris Secondumn, Accounting, Equitable Jurisdiction and
Nature of Remedy, Overview, Generally § 6.
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because (lie SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue

claims against Mr. Hughes there is no reason to request an equitable accounting from

him.

G.

	

Mark Horowitz, PhD.

Mark horowitz, PhD. has been a member of Rambus's Board of Directors since

co-founding the Company in March 1990. Dr. Horowitz served as a Vice President from

March 1990 to May 1994, and has served as Chief Scientist since May 2005.

Dr. Horowitz has taught at Stanford University since 1984 where he is currently a

professor of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science. He holds B.S. and M.S.

degrees in Electrical Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and

received his Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University. Dr. Horowitz is

vital to the Company's technological success, and is the inventor of the main technology

on which the Company is based.

The SLC has concluded that pursuing the claims asserted against Dr. Horowitz in

the derivative actions would not wily be unjustified on the merits (as outlined below), but

would also entail significant costs to the Company and, because of his current role at the

Company, would be highly disruptive and interfere with the ongoing conduct of the

Company's business. Accordingly, the SLC has concluded that those claims should he

dismissed.

1.

	

Federal Securities Law Claims

As noted above, to prevail on a Section 10(h) claim, a plaintiff must plead and

prove the defendant's scienter, While several obstacles would stand in the way of the

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Dr. Horowitz, the scienter

requirement is the most obvious among them. After reviewing the specific facts

regarding Dr. Horowitz and his role in the events underlying the allegations in the

Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that there is no evidcncc to support a claim
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that he acted with scientcr. The SLC found no evidence of any bad làith or improper

behavior by Dr. Horowitz. Indeed, the evidence indicates that Dr. Horowitz had no direct

involvement in the stock option granting proecss, and there is no evidence that lie had

knowledge of any improperly dated options. Accordingly, the SLC concludes that the

scienter requirement would present an insurmountable obstacle to pursuing Section 10(b)

claims against Dr. Horowitz.

Porsimilar reasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Dr. Horowitz. As noted above, that statute imposes liability on "control persons" for

others' violations oldie Act. To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first

have to prove all the elements of a Section 10(b) claim against a primary violator,

including scienter, damages, and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary

violator's knowledge imputed to the Company. Even if Rambus could do so, which is

highly uncertain, the alleged control person is not liable if he or she "acted in good faith

and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause

of action." 15 U.S.C. 78t. Although the defendant bears the burden of proof on the

affirmative defense, the SLC concludes that Dr. Horowitz would be able to make the

required prima facie showing (he would testify that he had acted in good faith and did not

directly or indirectly induce stock option backdating) and that the Company, in contrast,

would lack evidence to controvert that showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Dr. Horowitz - for alleged violations of Section 14(a) - is meritless. The SLC

concludes that it is not in the Company's best interest to pursue this claim.

Most fundamentally, the claim is time-barred. Section 14(a) claims must be

brought within three years from the (late the challenged proxy statements were
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disseminated.'8 The three-year period, is absolute and not subject to equitable 1olEmg.t

Because the last proxy statement challenged in the Derivative Complaint was tiled in

December 2002, Section 14(a) claims based on alleged inaccuracies in those proxy

materials are time-barred.

In addition to the foregoing, the Section, 14(a) claim asserted in the Derivative

Complaint also has serious substantive defects. The purpose of Section 14(a) is to

preserve the integrity of the proxy solicitation process, and to ensure that shareholders

voting on corporate proposals are not misinformed. Because Rambus itself has no right

to vote, there is an inherent logical flaw in permitting a shareholder to assert a Section

14(a) claim derivativcly. Whilc the United Statcs Supreme Court held over forty years

ago in if. case (.'o. . liorak,2° that Section 14(a) could be asserted derivatively, the

Court has subsequently disavowed the open-ended approach i employed there,2' and it is

doubtful whether J3orak's logic or result would survive scrutiny under the Court's

modern jurisprudence.

Finally, even if the Section 14(a) claim was not time-barred and the company had

standing to sue, the claim would founder on the element of causation. To recover

damages under Section 14(a), a plaintiff must show that the challenged proxy materials

were an "essential link" in the accomplishment of a corporate transaction that injured the

In re Exxo, Mobil corp. Sec. Lilig., 387 F. Supp. 2d 407, 421,424 (D.N.J.
2005) (collecting authorities); Virginia lvi. Damon Thisi v. Worth County Fin. Corp., 325
F. Supp. 2d 817, 823-24 (W.D. Mich. 2004).

' E.g., Lampf , P/eva, Lipkind, Prupos & Peti,row v. Gilhertson, 501 U.S. 350,
363 (1991); Munoz v. Ashcroji, 339 F.3d 950, 957 (9( Cir. 2003).

377 U.S. 426 (1964).

21 Correctional Sens. Corp. v. Malesko, 534 U.S. 61, 67 ii.3 (2001); ii lexander p.
Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 286-87 (2001).
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company or its shareholders.22 Here, no transaction was made possible by the votes

Rambus' shareholders cast in connection with the 2000-2002 PrOxies. The only items on

those proxies were the clection of directors and ratification of the appointment of PwC.

While the Derivative Complaint suggests that the election of directors may serve as the

causal link between challenged statements and purported hann to the company because

the directors allegedly authorized or permitted misconduct to occur, that theory has beeii

rejected by the courts as too attenuated.23

2.

	

State Law Claims

a.

	

Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The SIC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that

Dr. Horowitz breached his duty of care to Rambus. Indeed, the evidence indicates that

Dr. Horowitz had no direct involvement in the stock option granting process. Moreover,

the exculpatory provision included in Rambus's articles of incorporation pursuant to

Delaware General Law § 102(b)(7) would, in any event, be an insurmountable obstacle to

claims thr money damages based on any such alleged breach. The SLC has found no

evidence that Dr. Horowitz engaged in intentional misconduct, knowing violations of

law, or bad faith conduct, or that he was involved in or aware of mispric lug of stock

option grants to himself. Thus, none of the exceptions to the exculpatory provision

would apply to Dr. Horowitz. Consequently, no moticy damages would be recoverable

by the Company for a breach of fiduciary duty of care claim.

22 See Mills v. Electric A uto-Lite Go., 396 U.S. 375, 385 (1970); Desaigoudar v.
Meycicord, 223 F.3d 1020, I 022 (9th Cir. 2000); General Electric Co. v. Cathcart, 980
F.2d 927, 932 (3d Cir. 1992).

Gene,al Electric, 980 F.2d at 933; Cowin v. Bresler, 741 F.2d 410, 428 (D.C.
Cir. 1984).
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The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not support a claim that

Dr. horowitz breached his duty of loyalty to Rambus. Again, the evidence does not

suggest any failure on Dr. Horowitz's part to act in good faith 01- any siisçained or

systematic failure on his part to exercise oversight. Moreover, there is n evidence that

Dr. Horowitz engaged in self-dealing. While he received one insubstantial mispriced

stock option grant, as noted above, there is no evidence that he was involved in or was

aware of the mispricing. The SLC therefore concludes the evidence does not support a

viable claim for breach of the duty of loyalty against Dr. Horowitz.

b.

	

Corporate WastelUnjust Enrichment

The claims for corporate wnsteIunjust enrichment asserted in the derivative actions

against Dr. Horowitz also have several obvious'deficicncics. First, as noted above, a

claim for corporate waste is just another variation of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty

and would fail in this instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, also as noted

above, to state a claim for unjust enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention of

a benefit to the loss of another, or the retention of money or property of another against

the fundamental principles of justice or equity and good conscience. The Company

would face difficult issues proving this as to Dr. horowitz. Dr. Horowitz did receive one

insubstantial mispriced option grant, but the lack of evidence that he was aware of the

mispricing undermines the notion that his retention of those options would be against the

fundamental principles ofjustice or equity and good conscience. Third, the statute of

limitations would prcsent.a significant obstacle to any recovery for unjust enrichment.24

24 The statute ot'lirnitations would present a significant obstacle to recovery on the
unjust enrichment claims regardless of whether the court were to apply California's two-
year statute of limitations (Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 339; accord Perehuan v. Deul, 2002
WL 1797228 (Cal. App. Aug. 6, 2002)) or Delaware's three-year statute of limitations
(Kaim v. Seaboard Corp., 625 A.2d 269, 271-77 (Del. Ch. 1993)). The claims were
asserted in the derivative actions well after the prescribed time periods, and it does not

'Foornoie cnriii,,ed
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The misprced options Dr. Horowitz received wcre granted in April 2001. The first

derivative action was filed in May 2006. Fourth, despite these facts, Dr. Horowitz has

voluntarily agreed in principle to tile repricing of the options in question.

Under these circumstances, thc SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims for corporate waste or unjust enrichment against

Dr. Horowitz. Such claims lack merit, and would only serve to impose .significant Costs

on the Company anti distract it from its current business.

c. California Corporations Code § 25502.5

The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Dr. Horowitz is for

violation oCCahifornia Corporations Code Section 25502.5

	

i.e., purchasing or selling

Rambus stock on the basis of material nonpublic information about the Company. Once

again, the most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Dr. Horowitz is the lack of

evidence establishing his awareness of material nonpublic information at the time he

I)Ought or sold any stock. The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the

Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Dr. Horowitz as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

d. Accounting

As discussed above, all of the records of Rambus are fully available to Rambus

and, were it to decide to proceed against Dr. Horowitz, its damages would be

determinable. More lun(lamental]y, because the .SLC has concluded that it is not in the

best interest of the Company to pursue claims against Dr. 1-lorowitz there is no reason to

request an equitable accounting from him.

appear that thc necessary facts could be established to invoke the doctrine olequitable
lolling.
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H.

	

David Mooring

David Mooring served as the Vicc President of several of the Company's business
units from 1991 through December 1999, and as the Company's President from

December 1999 until January 2004. Mr. Mooring was also a member of Rambus 's Board
of Directors from December 1999 through May 2006.

The SLC has concluded that most of the claims asserted against Mr. Mooring in
the derivative actions have no merit, as discussed below. After reviewing the specific

facts regarding Mr. Mooring and his role in the events underlying (lie allegations in the

Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that the evidence fails lo support a claim

that he acted in bad faith or engaged in any improper behavior. The evidence indicates

that Mr. Mooring had minimal responsibilities relating to the stock option granting

process, and no role in the approval of his own stock option grants. These facts would

present significant obstacles to pursuing each of the claims asserted against Mr. Mooring

other than for unjust enrichment.

As to the unjust enrichment claim asserted in the derivative actions, Mr. Mooring

did receive several mispriced option grants. But the fact that he did not participate in and

did not have any role in the stock option granting process for his own grants significantly

undermines the notion that his retention of those options would be against the

fundamental principles of equity and good conscience. Furthermore there is no evidence

that Mr. Mooring had any awareness that the stock option granting process was tiawed.

In addition, the statute of limitations would present a significant obstacle to any recovery

for unjust enrichment.25 Virtually all of the mispriced options Mr. Mooring received

were granted in 2001 and prior. The first derivative action was filed in May 2006.

The sr.c has also concluded that it was reasonable for Mr. Mooring to believe that
the Senior Vice President, Administration was handling the Company's stock option

See lii 24, supra.
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grants in accordance with the appropriate legal and accounting rules for stock option

grants and understood the Company's actual practices.

Given the inherent tinccrtaintics and costs of Litigation as well as the remote

Likelihood of obtaining any recovcry against Mr. Mooring, the SLC entered into

negotiations with Mr. Mooring in an eliort to resolve the potential claims against him.

On July 26, 2007, the Company and Mr. Mooring entered into an agreement, conditioned

upon the dismissal of' the claims against Mr. Mooring in thc derivative actions, among

other things, whereby Mr. Mooring will deliver to the Company 163,333 shares of the

Company's stock. The SLC has concluded that it is in the best interest ouihe Company

to settle the claims against Mr. Mooiing on these terms and, consequently, concludes that

the claims against Mr. Mooring in the derivative actions should be dismissed.

1.

	

Federal Securities Law Claims

As noted above, to prevail on a Section 10(b) claim, a plainti IT must plead and

prove (he defendant's scienter. While several obstacles would stand in the way of the

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Mooring, the scienter

requirement is the most obvious among them. After reviewing the specific facts

regarding Mr. Mooring and his role in the events underlying thc allegations in the

Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that the evidence fails to support a claim

that he acted with scienter. The SLC found no evidence of any bad faith or improper

behavior by Mr. Mooring. Indeed, the evidence indicates that Mr. Mooring had minimal

responsibilities relating to the stock option granting process, and there is no evidence that

he had any awareness that the stock option granting process was flawed. Accordingly,

the SLC concludes that the scienter requirement would present an insurmountable

obstacle to pursuing Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Mooring.

For similar reasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against
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Mr. Mooring. As noted above, that statute imposes liability on "control persons" for

others' violations of the Act. To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first

have to prove aLl the elements of a Section 10(b) claim against a primary violator,

including scienter, damages, and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary

violator's knowledge imputed to the Company. Moreover, the alleged control person is

tiot liable if he or she "acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act

or acts constituting the violation or cause of action." 15 U.S.C. § 7gt. Although the

defendant bears the burden of proof on the affirmative defense, the SLC concludes that

Mr. Mooring would be able to make the required prima fade showing (he would testify

that he had acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce stock option

backdaliiig) and that the Company, in contrast, would lack evidencc to controvert that

showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Mr. Mooring - for alleged violations of Section 14(a) - as discussed above, lacks merit

and, more iündamentally, is time-barred.

2.

	

State Law Claims

a.

	

Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The SLC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that

Mr. Mooring breached his duly olcare to Rambus. Indeed, as explained above the

evidence indicates that Mr. Mooring had no dircct involvement in the stock option

granting process. Moreover, the exculpatory provision included in Rainhus's articles of

incorporation pursuant to Delaware General Law § l02(b)(7) would, in any event, he an

insurmountable obstacle to claims for money damages based on any such alleged breach.

The SLC has found no evidence that Mr. Mooring engaged in intentional misconduct,

knowing violations of law, or bad faith conduct, or that he was involvcd in or aware of

mispricing of stock option grants to himself. Thus, none of the exceptions to the
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exculpatory provision would apply to Mr. Mooring. Conscqucntly, money damages

would not be recoverable for a claim of breach of the fiduciary duty of care.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not support a claim that Mr.

Mooring hreached his duty of loyalty to Rainbus. Again, the evidence does not suggest

any failure on Mr. Mooring's part to act in good faith or any sustained or systematic

failure on his part to exercise oversight. Moreover, the evidence does not suggest that

Mr. Mooring engaged in self-dealing. While he received several inispriccd stock option

grants, as noted above, there is no evidence that he was involved in or was aware of the

mispricing, The SLC therefore concludes the evidence does not support a viable claim

for breach of the duty of loyally against Mr. Mooring.

b.

	

Corporate Waste/Unjust Enrichment

The claims for corporate waste/unjust enrichment asserted in the derivativc actions

against Mr. Mooring also have several obvious deficiencies. First, as noted above, a

claim for corporate wa.sic is just another variation of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty

and would fail in this instance frn the reasons outlined above. Second, also as noted

above, to state a claim for unjust enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust rctcntion of

a hcitclit to the loss of another, or the retention of money or property of another against

the fundamental principles ofjusticc or equity and good conscience. The Company

would face difficult issues proving this as to Mr. Mooring. Mr. Mooring did receive

several mispriced option grants, but the lack of evidence that he was awarç that the stock

option granting process was flawed significantly undermines the notion that his retenhioii

of' those options would be against the fundamental principles ofjustice or equity and

good conscience. Third, the statute of limitations would present a significant obstacle to

any recovery for unjust enrichment.26 Virtually all of the mispriced options Mr. Mooring

26 Sec fn 24, supra
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received were granted in 2001 and prior. The first derivative action was filed in May

2006. 1inally, despite these facts, Mr. Mooring has agreed to a settlement of the potential

claims by agreeing to return the Company a substantial number of shares of Rambus

common stock.

Under these circumstances, the SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims tbr corporate waste or unjust enrichment against Mr.

Mooring. Such claims lack merit, ah4 would only serve to impose significant costs on

the Company and distract it from its current business.

c,

	

Rescission

The Derivative Complaint purports to assert a cause of action against Mr. Mooring

for rescission. Rescission, however, is merely a remedy, not a cause of action.

Accordingly, the SLC thus concludes that this claim should be dismissed.

d.

	

Breach of Contract

The Derivative Complaint asserts a cause of action against Mr. Mooring for

breach of contract, alleging that Mr. Mooring breached his employment agreement and

the Company's stock option plan by receiving improperly priced, stock options. The SLC

has concluded that this claim is without merit. Mr. Mooring's employment agreement

contains no provisions relating to options or option pricing. Moreover, the stock option

plan provision relating to option pricing (and which is incorporated by reference into

stock option agreements) creates obligations and limitations for the stock option plan

administrator, not option grantees such as Mr. Mooring. As a result, Mr. Mooring's

receipt of allegedly mispriced options does not breach his employment agreement.

The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue

claims for breach of contract against Mr. Mooring. Such claims lack merit, and would

only serve to impose significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current

business.
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California Corporations Code § 255023
The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Mr. Mooring is for

violation of Calilbrnia Corporations Code Section 25502.5 - i.e., purchasing or selling

Rainbus stock on the basis of material non-public information about the Company. Once

again, the most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Mr. Mooring is the lack of

evidence establishing his awareness of material nonpublic information at the time he

bought or sold any stock.27 The SLC thus concludes that ii is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Mr. Mooring as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

f.

	

Accounting

As discussed above, all of the records of Rambus arc fully available to Rambus

and, were it to decide to proceed against Mr. Mooring, its damages would be

determinable. More fi.mndamentally, because the SLC has concluded that it is not in the

best interest of the Company to pursue claims against Mr. Mooring there is no reason to

request an equitable accounting from him.

1.

	

William Davidow, PhD., Bruce Dunleve, P. Michael Farmwald, PhD.,
Charles Geschke, PhD., and Kevin Kennedy, PhD.

William L)avidow, PhD., Bruce Dunlevie, P. Michael Farmwaki, PhD., Charles

Geschke, and Kevin Kennedy. PhD. arc current or former non-executive members of

Rambus's Board of Directors who serve or served on the Board's Compensation

Committee.

Dr. Davidow was a director of Rambus from its inception in March 1990 until

May 2005, and served as chairman of the Board of Directors from March 1990 to January

2005. Dr. Davidow served as a member of the Compensation Committee of the Board

27 See also fn 16, supra.
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from 1997 to October 2002, and as a member of the Audit Committee from 1997 to May

2005. Dr. Davidow has been a general partner of venture capital firm Mohr, Davidow

Ventures since 19R5. From 1973 to 1985, he held a number of management positions at

Intel Corporation, including Senior Vice President of Marketing and Sales, Vice

President of the Microcomputer Division anti Vice President of the Microcomputer

Systems Division. Dr. Davidow holds A.B. and M.S. degrees in Elcctrical F.nginccring

from Dartmouth College, an M.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from the Calilbmia

Institute of Tech nology, and a Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University.

Mr. Dun levie has served as a director of Rambus since its founding in March

1990, as a member of the Compensation Committee from 1997 to 2006 and as a member

of the Audit Committee from 1997 to March 2005. He has been. a General Partner of the

venture capital firm Benchmark Capital since May 1995, and was a general partner of the

venture capital fitin Merrill, Plekard, Anderson & Eyre between 1989 and 2000. In

addition to Rambus, Mr. Dunlevie also serves on the board of Palm, Inc. and several

private companies.

Dr. Farmwald has served as a director of Rambus since co-founding the Company

in March 1990, and served as a member of the Compensation Committee from October

2002 through July 2003 and March 2005 to October 2006. Dr. Farmwald founded

venture capital firm Skymoon Ventures in 2000, and has co-founded other semiconductor

companies including Matrix Semiconductor, Inc. in 1997. Dr. Farmwald holds a B.S. in

Mathematics from Purdue University and a Ph.D. in Computer Science from Stanford

University.

Dr. Gesc.hke served as a director of Rambus from February 1996 until March

2005, as a member of the Compensation Committee of the Board from February 1996 to

March 2005, and as a member of the Audit Committee from February 1996 to July 2003.

Di. Geschke is a co-founder of software company Adobe Systems Incorporated, has
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served as a director of that company since 1982, as its Chief Operating Officer from l96

to 1995, as its President from 1989 to 2000, and as its Chairman since 1997. Prior to

1982, Dr. Geschkc held various positions with Xerox Corporation's Palo Alto Research

Center, inclu(ling Manager of the Imaging Sciences Laboratoiy. He holds an A.B. degree

in Classics and an M.S. degree in Mathematics from Xavier University of Ohio, and

received his Ph.D. iii Computer Science from Carnegie-Mellon University.

Dr. Kennedy has served as a director of Rambus since April 2003, and is currently

Chairman of the Board. Dr. Kennedy has served as a member of the Compensation

Committee of the Board from July 2003 to the present, with the exception of a short

period during mid-2006. Dr. Kennedy is also currently Chief Executive Officer and

director at JDS Uniphase Corporation, a communications equipment corporation. From

August 2001 to September 2003, Dr. Kennedy was the Chief Operating Officer of

Openwave Systems, Inc., a software corporation. Prior to joining Openwave Systems

Inc., Dr. Kennedy served seven years at Cisco Systems, Inc., a networking corporation,

most recently as Senior Vice President of the Service Provider Line of Business and

Software Technologies Division, and 17 years at Bell Laboratories. Dr. Kennedy is also a

director of KLA Tencor Corporation.

The SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue the

claims made in the consolidated derivative actions against Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevic,

Dr. Farmwald, Dr. (ieschke, or Dr. Kennedy. As outlined below, the SLC concludes that

the derivative claims asserted against these individuals are without merit. The SLC has

also concluded that it was reasonable for members of the Compensation Committee to

have relied upon the Company's former Senior Vice President of Human Resources and

former Chief Financial Officers to ensure that the Company's procedues for issuing and

accounting for stock option grants were appropriate.
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Moreover, the SLC understands and believes that Dr. Kennedy's extensive

business experience, including as CEO of a major technology company, is extremely

valuable to Rambus. As current Chairman of the Board, Dr. Kennedy is critical to

oversight of the Company's strategic initiatives and overall business direction.

Similarly, Mr. Dunlevie has extensive business experience and has provided

invaluable insights and strategic guidance over the years and is expected to continue to be

vital to the Company's success.

Dr. Farrnwald is a founder of the company and co-inventor nf thc main tcchnology

on which the company is premised. Dr. Farmwald continues to provide valuable

technological insight and guidance to the company.

The SLC finds that pursuit of the derivative claims against Dr. Davidow, Mr.

Dun Jevie, Dr. Farrnwald, Dr. (icschke, and Dr. Kennedy would have negative

consequences for the Company including significant costs and substantial and harmful

interference with the ongoing conduct of the Company's business that the circumstances

do not justify. Accordingly, the SLC concludes that it is in the Company's best interest

that these claims he terminated.

1.

	

Federal Securities L,aw Claims

As noted above, to prevail on a Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must plead and

prove the defendant's scienter. While several obstacles would stand in the way of the

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie,

Dr. Faimwald, Dr. Geselike, and Dr. Kennedy, the scienter requirement is the most

obvious among them. Afler reviewing the specific tcts regarding Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, and Dr. Kennedy, and their roles in the events

underlying the allegations in the Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that the

evidence fails to support a claim thai any uric of them acted with scienter. In fact, the

evidence does not suggest any one of them acted other than in good laith. Accordingly,
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the SLC concludes that the scienter requirement would present an insurmountable

obstacle to pursuing Section 10(b) claims against these individuals.

For similar reasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best iuteret of the Company

to pursue the claims tinder Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Oeschke, or Dr. Kennedy. As noted

above, that statute imposes liability on "control persons" for others' violations of the Act.

To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first have to prove all the elements

ola Section 10(b) claim against a Primary violator, including scienter, damages, and loss

causation, and also avoid having the primaly violator's knowledge imputed to the

Company. lii any event, the alleged control person is not liable if he or she "acted in

good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the

violation or cause of action." IS U.S.C. § 78t. Although the defendant bears the burden

of proof on the affirmative defense, the SLC concludes that Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie,

Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, and Dr. Kennedy would be able to make the required prima

facie showing (they would testify that they had acted in good faith and did not directly or

indirectly induce stock option backdating) and that the Company, in contrast, would lack

evidence to controvert that showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevic, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, and Dr. Kennedy - for alleged

violations of Section 14(a) - as discussed above, lacks merit and, more fundamentally,

is time-barred.

2.

	

State Law Claims

a.

	

Breach of Fiduciary Ditty

•l'he SLC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that

Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy breached his

duty of care to Rambus. in any event, the exculpatory provision included in Rambus's
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articles of incorporation pursuant to Delaware General Law § 102(b)(7) would be an

inunnuuiithle obstacle to claims for money damages based on any such alleged

breaches. The SLC has found that the evidence contradicts the notion that Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy engaged in intentional

misconduct, knowing violations of law, or bad faith conduct, or that they were involved

in or aware of mispricing of stock option grants to themselves. Thus, none of the

exceptions to the exculpatory provision would apply to Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunievie,

Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy. Consequcotly, even if breaches of

fiduciary care could be established as to those individuals it would be to no avail as

money damages would not be recoverable.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not support claims that

Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farinwald, Dr. Gcschkc, or Dr. Kennedy breached their

duties of loyalty to Rainbus. Again, the evidence does not suggest. any failure by

Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. F'arniwald, Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy to act in good

faith or any sustained or systematic failure on their part to exercise oversight. Moreover,

the evidence does not suggest that Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwaid,

Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy engaged in self-dealing. Indeed, (hey neither approved for

themselves nor received any mispriced stock options. The SLC therethre concludes the

evidence does not support viable claims for breach of the duty of loyalty against

T)r. Davidow, Mr. Dunlcvie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy.

b.

	

Corporate Waste/Unjust Enrichment

The claims for corporate waste/unjust enrichment a.sscrtcd in the derivative actions

against Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Gescbke, and DL. Kennedy also

have several obvious deficiencies. First, as noted above, a claim for corporate waste is

just another variation of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty and would fail in this

instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, also as noted above, to state a claim for
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unjust enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention of a benefit to the loss of

another, or the retention of money or property of anothcr against the fundamental

l)1iflCWleS ofjuslice or equity and good conscience. The Company would not be able to

meet this standard with respect to Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Fannwakl,

Dr. Geschke, or Dr. Kennedy fhr the simple reason that neither Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Geschke, nor Dr. Kennedy received any mispriced

c)ption grants. The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue claims fbr corporate waste or unjust enrichment against Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwakl, Dr. Gcschke, or Dr. Kennedy. Such claims lack merit, and

would only serve to impose significant costs on the Company and distract it from its

current business.

c.

	

California Corporations Code § 25402125502.5

The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, and Dr. Farinwald is for violation of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 -i.e., purchasing or selling Rambus stock on the basis of material non-public

information about the Company (the claim is not asscrtcd against Dr. Geschke or

Dr. Kennedy).

The most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, and Dr. Farmwald is the lack of evidence establishing their awareness of

material nonpublic information at the time of they bought or sold any stock.25 The SLC

thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue claims for

violations of Cal ifornia Corporations Code Section 25502.5 against Dr. Davidow,

Mr. Dunlevie, and Dr. Farmwald as such claims lack merit and would only serve to

impose significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

See also fo 16, supra.
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d.

	

Accounting

As discussed above, all of the records of Rambus are fully available to Rambus

and, were ii to decide to proceed against Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald,

Dr. (ic.sehke, or Dr. Kennedy, its damages would be detenninable. More fundamentally,

because the SLC has concluded that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue

claims against Dr. Davidow, Mr. Dunlevie, Dr. Farmwald, Dr. Gcschke, or Dr. Kennedy

there is no reason to request an equitable accounting from those individuals.

J.

	

John Danforth

John Dan forth held the General Counsel title at Rambus from October 2001

through July 2006. Mr. Danforth was not directly involved in the stock option granting

process at Rainbus, and there is no evidence that he had knowledge that the accounting

for option grants was incorrect.

The S1.C concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue the

claims made in the consolidated derivative actions against Mr. Danforth. As outlined

below, the SLC concludes that the derivative claims asserted against Mr. Danforth would

not succeed. Moreover, the SLC finds that pursuit of the derivative claims against Mr.

Danfortli would have negative consequences for the Company including significant costs

and likely interference with the ongoing conduct of the Company's business that the

circumstances do not justify. Accordingly, the SLC concludes that it is in the Company's

best interest that these claims be terminated.

1.

	

Federal Securities Law Claims

As noted above, to prcvail on a Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must plead aiid

prove the defendant's scienter. While several obstacles would stand in the way of the

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Danthrth, [lie scienter

requirement is the most obvious among them. After reviewing the specific fueLs

regarding Mr. Dan forth and his role in the events underlying the allegations in the

Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that the evidence fails to support a claim
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that he acted with scienter. The S1.C found no evidence of any bad faith or improper

behavior by Mr. Danforth. Indeed, the evidence indicates that Mr. Danfortli had minimal

responsibilities relating to the stock option grantng process at Rambus and had no

knowledge that the accounting for stock options was incorrect. The SLC has concluded

that Mr. Danforth did not knowingly engage in any improper activity relating to the stock

option matters investigated by the SLC. Accordingly, the SLC concludes that the

scienler requirement would present an insurmountable obstacle to pursuing Section 10(b)

claims against Mr. Danforth.

For siniilar reasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Mr. Danforth. As noted above, that statute imposes liability on &COntrol persons" for

othcrs' violations of the Act. To prevail on a control person claim, Rainbus would flrst

have to prove all the elements of a Section 10(b) claim against a primary violator,

including scienter, damages, and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary

violator's knowledge imputed to the Company. Even if Rainbus could do so, which is

highly unceilain, the alleged control person is not liable if he or she "acted in good faith

and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constitnting the violation or cause

of action." 15 IJ.S.C, § 78t. Although the defendant bears the burden of proof on the

affinnative defense, the SLC concludes that Mr. Danforth would he able to make the

required prima facie showing (he would testify that he had acted iii good [huh and did not

directly or indirectly induce stock option backdating) and that the Company, in contrast,

would lack evidence to controvert that showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Mr. Danforth for alleged violations of Section 14(a) -- as discussed above, lacks merit

and, more fundamentally, is time-barred.
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2.

	

State I,aw Claims

a. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

Thc SLC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that

Mr. Danfoith breached his duty of care to Rambus. Although Mr. Danforth held the

General Counsel title at Rainbus from October 2001 through July 2006, he had minimal

responsibilities relating to the stock option granting process. Mr. Danforth's role in the

stock option granting process at Rambus was to recommend the allocation of annual

opiion grants to (lie emp'oyees he supervised, and there is no evidence that he had

knowledge that the accounting for options was improper.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not support a claim that

Mr. Danforth breached his duty of loyalty to Rambus. Again, the evidence does not

suggest any failure on Mr. Danforth's part to act in good faith. Moreover, there is no

evidence that Mr. Danforth engaged in self-dealing. While he received one mispriced

stock option grant when he was first hired, there is no evidence the he was involved in or

was aware of the improper accounting for those options. The SLC therefore concludes

the evidence does not support a viable claim for breach of the ditty of loyalty against

Mr. Danforth.

b. Corporate Waste/Unjust Enrich meat
The claims for corporate waste/unjust enrichment asserted in the derivative actions

against Mr. Danforth also have several obvious deficienciem. First, as noted above, a

claim for corporate waste is just another variation of a claim

	

breach of fiduciary duty

and would fail in this instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, also as notcd

above, to state a claim for unjust enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention of

a benefit to the loss of another, or the retention ot money or property of another against

the fundamental rinciples ofjustice or equity and good conscience. The Company

would face diIicult issues proving this as to Mr. Danforth. Mr. Danforth did receive 0110

option grant which the Company now believes was rnispriced, but the lack of evidence
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that he was aware of the mispricing undermines the notion that his retention of those

options would be against the fundamental principles ofjustice or equity and good

conscience. Third, the statute of Limitations would present a significant obstacle to any

recovery for unjust enrichment.2 The inispriced options Mr. Danforth received were
granted in October 2001. The first derivative action was filed in May 2006. Fourth,

Mr. Danmorth has voluntarily agreed to reprice a portion of his mispriced options, and has

reached an agreement in principle to settle with the Company any claim for

reimbursement of I.R.C. s. 409A liability. The SLC thus concludes that it is not in (he

best interest of the Company to pursue claims for corporate waste or unjust enrichment

againsi Mr. Danforth. Such claims lack merit, and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Companyand distract it from its current business.

c. Rescission

The Derivative Complaint purports to assert a cause of action against

Mr. Danforth for rescission. Rescission, however, is merely a remedy, not a cause of

action. Accordingly, the SLC thus concludes that this claim should be dismissed.

d. Breach of Contract

The Derivative Complaint also asserts a cause of action against Mr. Dan Iflrth for

breach of' contract, alleging that Mr. Danforth breached his employment agreement and

the Company's stock option plan by receiving improperly dated stock options. The SLC

has concluded that [his claim is without merit. Contrary to allegations in the Derivative

Complaint, Mr. Danfbrth's employment agreement does not contain any provision

req airing the exercise price of options to be no less than the fair market value of the

Company's stock on the date of the grant. Although the Company's stock option plans

and option agreements entered into by and between Mr. Danforth and the Company are

See fn 24, supra.
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iiicorporatecl by reference mb Mr. Danforth's employment agreement, the provisions

therein relating to the exercise price of options create obligations for the option

administrator, not option grantees, such as Mr. Danforth. Mr. Danforth did nt grant

stock options to himself, nor did he have the authority to do so, and his receipt of

mispriced options does not constitute a breach by Mr. Danforth's of his employment

agreement. The SIC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to

pursue claims fbi breach olcontract against Mr. Danforth. Such claims lack merit, and

would only serve to impose significant costs on the Company and distract it from its

current business.

e. California Corporations Code 25502.5

The linal claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Mr. Danforth is for

violation of Calithrnia Coiiorations Code Section 25502.5

	

i.e., purchasing or selling

Rambus stock on the basis of material non-public information about the Company. Once

again, the most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Mr. Danforth is the lack of

evidence establishing his awareness of material nonpublic information at the time he

bought or sold any stock.° The sir thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Mr. Danforth as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

f. Accounting

As discussed above, all of the records of Ranibus are fully available to Rainbus

and, were it to decide to proceed against Mr. Dan ibrth, its damages would be

determinable. More fundamentally, because the SLC has concluded that it is not in thc

" See also La 17, supra.
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best interest of the Company to pursue claims against Mr. Danlhrth there is no reason to

request an equitable accounting from him.

K.

	

Laura Stark

Ms. Stark has served as Rambus's Senior Vice President, Platform Solutions since

February 2005. From 2000 to 2005. Ms. Stark served as the Company's Vice President,

Memory Interface Division, and from 1996 to 2000 she served as the Company's

Strategic Accounts Director and Vice President, Alliances and Infrastructure. Ms. Stark's

only role in the stock option granting process at Rambus was to recommend the

allocation of annual option grants to the employees she supervised, and there is no

evidence that Ms. Stark had knowledge that the Company's stock option granting process

was flawed or that the accounting for stock options was improper.

The SLC has also concluded that it was reasonable for Ms. Stark to have relied

upon the Company's Iorrner Senior Vice President of human Resources and former

Chief Financial Officers to ensure that the Company's procedures for issuing and

accounting for stock option grants were appropriate.

The SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue the

claims made in the consolidated derivative actions against Ms. Staric. As outlined below,

the SLC concludes that the derivative claims asserted against Ms. Stark are without merit

Moreover, the SLC finds that pursuit of the derivative claims against Ms'. Stark would

have negative consequences for the Company including significant costs and likely

interference with the ongoing conduct of the Company's business that the circumstances

do not justify. Ms. Stark is responsible for and critical to the implementation of the

Company's strategic marketing plans and the related licensing arrangements that are the

major component of Rambus' revenue. Accordingly, the SLC concludes that it is in the

Company's best interest that these claims be terminated.
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I.

	

Federal Securities Law Claims

As noted above, to prevail on a Section 10(h) claim, a plaintiff must plead and

prove the defendant's scienter. While several obstacles would stand in the way of thc

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Ms. Stark, the scientcr requirement

is the most obvious among them. After reviewing the specific facts regarding Ms. Stark

and her role in the events underlying the allegations in the Derivative Complaint, the SLC

has concluded that the evidence fails to support a claim IhaL he acted with scienter. The

SLC found no evidence of any bad faith or improper behavior by Ms. Stark. Indeed, the

evidence indicates that Ms. Stark had minimal responsibilities relating to the stock option

granting process and was not aware that the stock option granting process was flawed or

that the accounting tbr those options was improper. Accordingly, the SLC concludes

that the scienter requirement would present a insurmountable obstacle to pursuing

Section 10(b) claims against Ms. Stark.

For similar rcasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Ms. Stark. As noted above, that statute imposes liability on "control persons" for others'

violations of the Act. To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first have to

prove all the elements of a Section 10(b) claim against a primary violator, including

scienter, damages, and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary violator's

knowledge imputed to the Company. In any event, the alleged control person is not

liable if he or she "acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or

acts constituting (he violation or cause of action." 15 U.S.C. § 78t. Although the

defendant hears the burden of proof on the affirmative defense, the SLC concludes that

Ms. Staik would be able to make the rcquircd prima facie showing (she would testi' that

she had acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce stock option
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backdating) and that the Company, in contrast, would lack evidence to controvert that

showing.

The oihr federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Ms. Stark - for alleged violations of Section 14(a) --as discussed above, lacks merit

and, more thndamentally, is time-barred, In addition, Ms. Stark was not on the Board or

otherwise involved in the solicitation of proxics and therefore a Section 14 claim could

not be properly maintained against her.

2.

	

State Law Claims

a.

	

Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The SLC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that Ms. Stark

breached her duty of care to Rambus. Ms. Stark has served as Rambus's Senior Vice

President, Platform Solutions since Februaiy 2005, served as the Company's Vice

Prcsidcnt, Memory Interface Division, from 2000 to 2005. and served as the Company's

Strategic Accounts Director and Vice President, Alliances and Infrastructure from 1996

to 2000. As noted above, Ms. Stark's did not have any direct role in the stock option

granting process at Rambus, and there is no evidence that Ms. Stark had knowledge that

the process was flawed or that the accounting was improper.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not SUppOrt a claim that Ms. Stark

breached her duty of loyalty to Rairibus. Again, the evidence does not suggest any failure

on Ms. Stark's part to act in good fiuith or any sustained or systematic failure on her part

to exercise oversight. Moreover, the evidence does not suggest that Ms. Stark engaged in

self-dealing. While Ms. Stark received several mispriced stock option grants, there is no

evidence that she was involved in the approval of her own grants. The SLC therefore

In addition to the concerns discussed above, it is improbable that the Company
could show that Ms, Stark -- an officer with relatively limited authority - was a
"control person" within the meaning of the federal securities laws.
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concludes the evidence does not support a viable claim for breach of the duty of loyalty

against Ms. Stark.

b.

	

Corporate Waste/Unjust Enrichment

The claims for corporate waste/unjust enrichment asserted in the derivative actions

against Ms. Stark also have several obvious deficiencies. First, as noted above, a claim

for corporate waste is just another variation of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty and

would fail in this instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, also as noted above, to

state a claim for unjtis enrichment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention of a benefit.

to the loss of another, or the retention of money or property of another against the

fundamental principles ofjustice or equity and good conscience. The Company would

face difficult issues proving this as to Ms. Stark. Ms. Stark did receive several mispriced

option grants, but the lack of evidence that she was aware of the flawed granting practices

undermines the xiolion thai. her retention of those options would be against the

fundamental principles of justice or equity and good conscience. Third, the statute of

limitations would present a significant obstacle to any recovery for unjust enrichment.32

The last of the mispriced options Ms. Stark received were granted in January 2004. The

first derivative action was filed in May2006. Fourth, Ms. Stark has agreed in principle to

the repricing of her unexercised options, substantially mitigating the cost to the Company

of the mispriced options she was granted and has voluntarily not taken advantage of the

409A reimbursement made available to other current cmployccs.

Given the inherent uncertainties and costs of litigation, as well as the rcmolc

likelihood of obtaining any recovery against Ms. Stark, the SLC thus concludes that it is

not in the best interest of the Company [o pursue claims for corporate waste or unjust

32 See Iii 24, sv1ra.
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cnrichincnt against her. Such claims lack merit, and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

c.

	

Rescission

The Derivative Complaint purports to assert a cause of action against Ms. Stark for

rescission. Rescission, however, is merely a remedy, not a causc of action. Accordingly,

the SLC thus concludes that this claim should be dismissed.

41.

	

Breach of Contract

The Derivative Complaint asserts a cause of action against Ms. Stark for breach of

contract, alleging that she breached her employment agreement and the Company's stock

option plan by receiving improperly priced stock options. The SLC has concluded that

this claim is without merit, Ms. Stark's employment agreement contains no provisions

relating to options or option pricing. Moreover, the stock option plan provision relating

to option pricing (and which is incorporated by reference into stock option agreements)

creates obligations and limitations for the stock option plan administrator, not option

grantecs such as Ms. Stark. As a result, Ms. Stark's receipt of rnispriced options does not

constitute a brcach by her of her employment agreement.

The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue

claims for breach of contract against Ms. Stark. Such claims tack merit, and would only

serve to impose significant costs on the Company and distract ii from its current business.

e.

	

California Corporations Code § 2550Z.5

The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Ms. Stark is fbr

violation of California Corporations Code Section 25502.5 - i.e., purchasing or selling

Rambus stock on the basis of material non-public infhrmation about the Company. Once

again, the most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Ms. Sark is the lack of

evidence establishing her awareness of material nonpublic information at thc time she
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bought or sold any stock." The SLC thus coiicludes that it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Ms. Stark as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

signiticant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

1.

	

AccountiiLg

As discussed above, all of the records of Rambus are fully available to Rambus

and, were it to decide to proceed against Ms. Stark, its damages would be determinable.

More fundamentally, because the SLC has concluded Ihat it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims against Ms. Stark there is no reason to request au equitable

accounting from her.

L.

	

Subodh Toprani

Mr. Toprani served as Rainbus' Senior Vice President, New Ventures from

December 1 999 to July 2000. Mr. Toprani also served as Vice President and General

Manager of the Logic Products Division of Ranihus from March 1997 to December 1999,

and. as its Vice ?resident Marketing from May 1994 to March 1997. Mr. Toprauii had no

role in Ihe stock option granting process at Rambus, and there is no evidence that

Mr. Toprani had knowledge of any improperly dated options.

The SLC concludes that it is not in the best interest of flue Company to pursue (lie

claims made in the consolidated derivative actions against Mr. Toprani. As outlined

below, the SLC concludes that the derivative claims asserted against Mr. Toprani are

without merit. Moreover, the SLC finds that pursuit of the derivative claims against Mr.

Toprani would have negative conscclucnccs for the Coiripany including significant costs

and likely interference with the ongoing conduct of the Company's business that [he

" See also fn 1 6, supra.
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circumstances do not justify. Accordingly, thc SLC concludes that it is in the Company's

best interest that these claims be terminated.

1.

	

Federal Seeuritis Law Claims

As noted above, to prevail on a Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must plead anti

prove the defendant's scienter. While several obstacles would stand in the way of the

Company prevailing on Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Toprani, the scienter

requirement is the most obvious among them. After reviewing the specific facts

regarding Mr. Toprani and his role in the events underlying the allegations in the

Derivative Complaint, the SLC has concluded that the evidence fails to support a claim

that he acted with scicntcr. The SLC found no evidence of any bad faith or improper

behavior by Mr. Toprani. Indeed, the evidence indicates that Mr. Toprani's had minimal

responsibilities relating to the stock option granting process at Rambus. The SLC has

concluded that Mr. Toprani did not knowingly engage in any improper activity.

Accordingly, the SLC concludes that the scienter requirement would present a

insurmountable obstacle to pursuing Section 10(b) claims against Mr. Toprani.

For similar reasons, the SLC concludes it is not in the best interest of the Company

to pursue the claims under Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against

Mr. Toprani. As noted above, that statute imposes liability on "control persons" ftr

others' violations of the Act.. To prevail on a control person claim, Rambus would first

have to prove all the elements of a Section 10(h) claim against a primary violator,

including scienter, damages, and loss causation, and also avoid having the primary

violator's knowledge imputed to the Company. Even if Rambus could do so, which is

highly uncertain, the alleged control person is not liable if he or she "acted in good fhith

and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause

of action." 15 U.S.C. § 78t. Although the defendant bears the burden of proof on the

affirmative defense, the SLC concludes that Mr. Toprani wouki he able to make the
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required prima facie showing (lie would testify that he had acted in good faith and did riot

directly or indirectly induce stock option backdating) and that the Company, in contrast,

would lack evidence to controvert that showing.

The other federal securities law claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against

Mr. Toprani for alleged violations of Section 14(a) - as discussed above, lacks merit

and, more fundamentally, is time-barred. In addition, Mr. 'foprani was not on the Board

or otherwic involved in the solicitation of proxies and therefore a Section 14 claim could

not be proieiiy maintained against him.

2.

	

State Law Claims

a.

	

BreaciL of Fiduciary Duty

The SLC also concludes that the evidence does not support a claim that Mr.

Toprani breached his duty of care to Rambus. Mr. Toprani served as Rambus' Senior

Vice President, New Venti.ires from December 1999 to July 2000, served as Vice

President and teneral Manager of the Logic Products Division of Rambus from March

1997 to December 1999, and as its Vice President, Marketing from May 1994 to March

1997. Mr. Toprani had minimal responsibilities relating to the stock option granting

iwocess at Rambus, and there is no evidence that Mr. Toprani had knowledge of any

improperly dated options.

The SLC similarly concludes the evidence does not support a claim hat Mr.

Toprani breached his duty of loyalty to Rambus. Again, the evidence does not suggest

any thilure on Mr. Toprani's part to act in good faith or any sustained or systematic

failure on his part to exercise over.sight. Moreover, the evidence does not suggest that

Mr. Toprani engaged in self-dealing. While Mr. Toprani received several mispriced

stock option grants, there is no evidence that he was involved in or was aware of the

mispricing. The SLC therefore concludes the evidence does not support a viable claim

fbi breach of the duty of loyalty against Mr. Toprani.
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b. Corporate Waste/Jnjust Enrichment
The claims for corporate waste/unjust enrichment asserted in the derivative actions

against Mr. Toprani also have evera1 obvious deficiencies. First, as noted above, a claim

for corporate waste is just another variation of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty and

would fail in this instance for the reasons outlined above. Second, also as noted above, Ic
state a claim for unjust enric1ment a plaintiff must show the unjust retention oVa benefit

to the loss of another, or the retention of money or property of another against the

fundamental principics ofjustice or equity and good conscience. The Company would

face difficult issues proving this as to Mr. Toprani. Mr. Toprarti did rcccivc several

mispriced option grants, but the lack of evidence that he was aware of the tuispricing

undermines the notion that his retention of those options would be against the

fundamental principles of justice or equity and good conscience. Third, the statute of

limitations would most likely preclude any recovery on any of the mispriced grants to

Mr. Toprani

	

who received the last grant in question in December l999.

Under these circumstances, the SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best

interest of the Company to pursue claims for corporate waste or unjust enrichment

against Mr. Toprarii. Such claims lack merit1 and would only serve to impose significant

costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

c. Rescission

The Derivative Complaint purports to assert a cause of action against Mr. Thprani

for rescission. Rescission, however, is merely a remedy, not a cause of action.

Accordingly, the SLC thus concludes that this claim should be dismissed.

d. Breach of Contract

The Derivative Complaint asserts a cause of action against Mr. Toprani for breach

of contract, alleging that he breached his employment agreement and the Company's

See th 24, SLipra,
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stock option plan by receiving improperly priced stock options. The SLC has concluded

that this claim is without merit. Mr. Topratii's employrncnt agrccment contains no

provisions relating to options or option pricing. Moreover, the stock option plan

provision relaling to option pricing (and which is incorporated by reference into stock

option agreements) creates obligations and limitations for the stock option plan

administrator, not option grantees such as Mr. Toprani. As a result, Mr. Toprani's receipt

of tnispriced options does not constitute a breach by him of his employment agreement.

The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of the Company to pursue

claims for breach of contract against Mr. Toprani. Such claims lack merit, and would

only scrve to impose significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current

business.

e. California Corporations Code § 25502.5

The final claim asserted in the Derivative Complaint against Mr. Toprani is for

violation of California Corporations Code Section 25502.5 - i.e., purchasing or selling

Rambus stock on the basis of material non-public information about the Company. Once

again, the most obvious obstacle to this claim with respect to Mr. Toprani is the lack of

evidence establishing his awareness of material nonpublic information at the tinic he

bought or sold any stock.35 The SLC thus concludes that it is not in the best interest of

the Company to pursue claims for violations of California Corporations Code Section

25502.5 against Mr. Toprani as such claims lack merit and would only serve to impose

significant costs on the Company and distract it from its current business.

f. Accounting

As discussed above, all of the records of Rambus are fully available to Rambus

and, were it to decide to proceed against Mr. Toprani, its damages would be

See also fn 16, supra.
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detcrminb1c. More flindanintnlly, because the SW has concluded tbat it is not in the

t {nteret of the Compaily to puxu claims aainat Nfr. Topratii there is no reason to

request an equitable accounting from him.

VI. CONCLJSION

For the foregoing reasons the SL.C conchides tha; in the best interest of the

Company, the claims against E4 Laxsen huld be pursued lxi the consolidated derivative

action pending in the United States Distiict Couit for the Northern District of California

azLd that the SLC should asst control over the litigation of such olaims The SLC

concludes that the claims alleged against the remaining defendants should be terminated.

DATED: August,
2007

SPECLAL LITEGATION COMMITTT OF TB BOARD

O1 DYT&ECTORS OF RAMBUS, INC.
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By:
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